COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LONNITA HASKINS, Appellant

VS.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington Corporation d/b/a TACOMA GENERAL HOSPITAL, Respondent

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LUVERA, BARNETT, BRINDLEY, BENINGER & CUNNINGHAM Joel D. Cunningham, WSBA #5586 Andrew Hoyal, WSBA #21349 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 6700 Seattle, WA 98104 206/467-6090

LAW OFFICE OF JAMES L. HOLMAN James L. Holman 4041 Ruston Way, Suite 101 Tacoma, WA 98402 206/627-1866

Counsel for Appellant

2013 SEP 11 PM 1: 04

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur spares the plaintiff the requirement of proving specific acts of negligence in cases where a plaintiff asserts that he or she suffered injury, the cause of which cannot be fully explained, and the injury is of a type that would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent.

Curtis v. Lein, 169 Wn.2d 884, 890, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010).

Washington appellate courts have repeatedly upheld the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur as a viable theory for proving negligence in a personal injury action, including medical malpractice claims. The continued and renewed viability of the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur is evidenced by the 2010 revisions to the Washington Pattern Jury Instructions to the res ipsa loquitur instruction, and their comments. The Committee revised the instruction and the comments incorporating recent case law and explaining the elements of the theories in terms of Washington case law. See 6 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Civil 22.01 at 255-259 (6th ed. 2012)(hereinafter WPI 22.01)(WPI 22.01 and comments thereto are attached as Appendix C).

¹See e.g., Curtis v. Lein, 169 Wn.2d 884, 239 P.3d 1078 (2010)(res ipsa loquitur applies reversing summary judgment); Pacheco v. Ames, 149 Wn.2d 431, 69 P.3d 324 (2003)(reversing Court of Appeals and reinstating verdict based upon res ipsa loquitur); Miller v. Jacoby, 145 Wn.2d 65, 33 P.3d 68 (2001)(reversed summary judgment); Brown v. Dahl, 41 Wn. App. 565, 705 P.2d 781 (1985)(reversing trial court's refusal to give instruction).

The trial court in this case should have given plaintiff Lonnita Haskins' proposed res ipsa loquitur instruction taken from WPI 22.01. Lonnita Haskins was severely injured when urinary stents inserted to drain her urine following a urinary diversion procedure were pulled 14 inches out of her body. The urine could not be drained, and instead backed up into her kidneys, causing serious injury to her renal system. At the time, she was recovering from the procedure at Tacoma General Hospital (Multicare) under the exclusive control of the hospital staff and its nurses.

The evidence is undisputed that at 10:00 p.m. on March 11, 2009 when her urine bags were changed, her stents were properly inserted and working to remove urine. She was well on her way to recovery. Within an hour and a half, the stents were found 14 inches outside of her body, and the urine bags had collected no urine since they were emptied at 10:00 p.m. X-rays confirmed that the stents were pulled out 14 inches.

However, no one saw the stents pulled out. Ms. Haskins relied inter alia on the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur ("the thing speaks for itself") to prove that the hospital's negligence was responsible. She introduced expert testimony that this occurrence would not ordinarily occur in these circumstances absent negligence. She proposed a jury instruction taken directly from WPI 22.01, Res Ipsa Loquitur—Inference of Negligence. (Proposed Instruction attached as Appendix A). The trial court, however,

refused to give the proposed instruction. The jury returned a verdict for the defense, finding that Plaintiff had not proved the defendant was negligent. Plaintiff appealed from the jury's verdict.

Whether a res ipsa loquitur instruction should be given is a question of law, subject to de novo review. The trial court here committed reversible error in refusing to give Plaintiff's proposed instruction. The case should be remanded for a new trial.

In addition, at trial Plaintiff challenged the constitutionality of RCW 7.70.080. This statute exempts health care providers in medical malpractice cases from the collateral source rule of evidence applicable to all other personal injury cases. Plaintiff moved in limine to exclude all evidence of collateral source payments. The trial court denied the motion and permitted the defendant hospital, pursuant to the statute, to introduce evidence of collateral source payments, specifically that Medicare and Medicaid were paying a portion of her medical bills.

RCW 7.70.080 is in direct conflict with the collateral source rule, a judicial rule of evidence which has been part of Washington law for one hundred years. The statute violates the constitutional doctrine of separation of powers, most recently articulated by the Supreme Court in *Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 285 P.3d 873 (2012); *Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 374 (2009); and *Waples v.*

Yi, 169 Wn.2d 152, 161, 234 P.3d 187 (2010). This Court should hold the statute unconstitutional and instruct the trial court on remand for a new trial that evidence of collateral source payments are inadmissible.

Finally, the trial court sustained an objection to the comments of plaintiff's counsel regarding the burden of proof, and instructed the jury that 51% was not the degree of proof for preponderance of the evidence. Further, the Court allowed defense counsel to argue that it was for the jury to determine the percentage degree of proof. The Court's actions were erroneous under Washington law which defines the preponderance of evidence as "more than 50 percent." *Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc.*, 172 Wn.2d 593, 608, 260 P.3d 857 (2011). This error was harmful and reversible, and is grounds for a new trial.

Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the trial court, vacate the judgment, and remand the case for a new trial.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury regarding res ipsa loquitur as requested in Plaintiff's proposed instructions.
- 2. The trial court erred in admitting evidence of collateral source payments pursuant to RCW 7.70.080, a statute which is unconstitutional in violation of the separation of powers.

- 3. The trial court erred in voir dire in instructing the jury venire that 51% was not the degree of proof for preponderance of the evidence.
- 4. The trial court erred in permitting counsel to argue in closing that it could not consider percentages in determining the degree of proof needed for the preponderance of the evidence.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Whether the trial court should have instructed the jury on the res ipsa loquitur doctrine when substantial evidence of all three elements of the doctrine was presented.
- 2. Whether RCW 7.70.080 allowing evidence of collateral source payments in medical malpractice cases is unconstitutional as a violation of separation of powers.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in sustaining objections to counsel's reference to preponderance of the evidence as constituting 51%, and allowing counsel to argue in closing argument that it was for the jury to determine the percentage necessary for preponderance of the evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Facts

On March 9, 2009, Lonnita Haskins went to Tacoma General Hospital for urinary diversion surgery to be performed by Dr. Bahman Saffari. Two years earlier in 2007, Ms. Haskins had been diagnosed with cervical cancer.² Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 21; RP (1/22/13) at 10. The radiation treatment she received, left her free of the cancer, but it created a vesicovaginal fistula, a hole or opening between her bladder and vagina. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 33, 64-65); RP (1/22/13) at 11-16, 33; RP (1/28/13) at 108-09. The fistula diverted urine into the vagina causing constant urinary leaking. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 33. The fistula also increased her risk of infection because it permitted bacteria from the vagina to easily ascend the urinary tract. RP (1/22/13) at 11-16.

To correct these problems, Dr. Saffari performed a urinary diversion procedure to bypass the bladder and thus the fistula altogether. The procedure involves the creation of an Indiana pouch to function as a new bladder or reservoir for urine. The surgeon fashions the Indiana pouch out of sections of the small and large intestine. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 25; RP (1/22/13) at 21. The ureters coming out of the kidneys are

² Citation to the verbatim report of proceedings will be by RP, followed by volume date in parenthesis followed by page number. Only a partial report of proceedings was ordered, and the pages were not sequentially numbered.

detached from the bladder and sutured to the pouch. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 25. The pouch itself is sutured to the wall of the abdomen from the inside. RP (1/22/13) at 21-22, 38-39; 57.

The Indiana pouch procedure requires the temporary insertion of urinary stents to drain the kidneys while the patient heals from the surgery. Two stents are inserted into the Indiana pouch from the outside of the patient's body. Each stent is then inserted into a ureter. The stents are extended through ureters to reach the renal pelvis of each kidney using a guide wire. RP (1/22/13) at 67-68. Thus one end of each stent goes into the kidney with the other end extending outside the body where it is attached to a urine collection bag into which it drains. RP (1/22/13) at 49.

These stents are intended to remain for about two weeks, during the immediate post-surgical period when the ureters are most subject to inflammation, especially where they connect to the pouch. They give the ureters time to form a solid connection with the pouch, and give the newly constructed pouch the opportunity to heal.³ The stents are hollow and ensure that the ureters remain open and draining during the healing period. They prevent strictures or kinking and scarring in the ureters which could cause the system to fail, resulting in acute renal failure. RP (1/22/13) at

³ As Dr. Oliver Dorigo observed, healing time is needed because "those are very fine sutures between a very fine structure [the ureters] and a rather thick bowel [the Indiana pouch]." RP (1/22/13) at 25.

21-26; Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 28, 36-37. Dr. Dorigo noted: "Keep those ureters open until they are healed up, the swelling is down, and then you can pull the stents out." RP (1/22/13) at 25.

The surgeon also inserts a third tube called a Malecot Tube. The Malecot is used to drain and irrigate the Indiana pouch itself while it is healing. The pouch is made out of bowel, and is still producing mucus during healing, requiring that it be flushed and drained. While the pouch is healing and the stents are in place, the pouch is not used to collect urine. RP (1/22/13) at 114; RP (1/16/13) at 148-49.

Because the stents are only temporary to be removed after two weeks, the stents are not sutured to the body. RP (1/22/13) at 38. The hospital and nursing staff must take care that the stents remain in place, extending to the kidney, in order to properly drain urine from the patient. RP (1/22/13) at 38-39.

In the two days following surgery, it was apparent that every aspect of the surgery had gone well. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 24. Her urinary output was good, and Dr. Safari believed her Indiana pouch would function for the rest of Lonnita Haskins' life, keeping her continent. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 25, 28. Her preexisting moderate chronic kidney disease would remain at the moderate level. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 27.

On March 11, 2009, the urine bags were emptied at 2:00 p.m., and then again at 10:00 p.m. by a nurse's aide. At 10:00 p.m., the nurse's aide collected 400 cc of urine in the right bag and 470 cc in the left for the preceding eight hours, and average of 50 plus cc's per hour in each bag. RP (1/16/13) at 26-27; RP (1/17/13) at 331; RP (1/17/13) at 84. This showed "real good urine output." RP (1/17/13) at 331. After the bags were emptied at 10:00 p.m., however, there was no more urine output. RP (1/16/13) at 36.

Nurse Shaleeni Fortner was the RN in charge of caring for Ms. Haskins on the 3-11:30 p.m. shift on March 11. RP (1/17/13) at 69. Her entries for the evening of March 11 showed that Ms. Haskins was calm and cooperative without thrashing or hallucinatory or psychotic behavior. RP (1/17/13) at 78-79. Nurse Fortner did not report any leaking urine, such as on Ms. Haskins' bed or bed clothes. RP (1/17/13) at 80. She assessed the urine collection tubes at 4:00 p.m. and found that they were secure. RP (1/17/13) at 89-90.

The bags were emptied at around 10:00 p.m. by a nurse's aide, Ashley Barker. Nurse Fortner was not present when Ms. Barker changed the urine bags at 10:00 p.m. RP (1/17/13) at 86. Ms. Barker ordinarily

⁴ A nurse must report a patient who fails to maintain a minimum output of 30 cc per hour. RP (1/17/13) at 331; RP (1/16/13) at 26-27. The output in both of Ms. Haskins' bags exceeded 100 cc per hour.

worked as a transporter at the hospital. She transported patients wherever needed, e.g., for x-rays or imaging, discharge, transfer to another facility and the like. RP (1/17/13) at 7-8. On March 11, she was on duty on evening shift when she was called to assist Nurse Fortney because of the illness of another assistant. RP (1/17/13) at 8.

Ms. Barker had no training in the care of urinary diversion patients. RP (1/17/13) at 11-12. She had no experience or training with the ureteral stents, urostomies, malecot tubes, or other tubes or equipment used with urinary diversion patients. RP (1/17/13) at 13. The stents and tubing for Ms. Haskins, were not comparable to the basic tubes and catheters on which Ms. Barker had trained. For instance, a Foley catheter has an inflatable balloon near the tip at the bladder end, which tethers the catheter in place. RP (1/17/13) at 325. The urinary stent has no similar mechanism to hold it in place. RP (1/17/13) at 325. A nurse's training in the Foley catheter is inadequate for the urinary stents which require "a whole separate training." RP (1/17/13) at 325. Ms. Barker had no training beyond the care involved with a Foley catheter. RP (1/17/13) at 12.

Further, she had no knowledge of how Ms. Haskins' renal system worked in this immediate post-surgical period. She did not know that the urine bags she emptied were connected to the actual stents which went

into the Indiana pouch, and extended into the kidneys where they were needed in order to drain the urine. RP (1/17/13) at 13-15.

At 11:00 p.m., Nurse Rebecca Sumey came on duty to replace Nurse Fortner. She was in charge of Ms. Haskins and several other patients. RP (1/16/13) at 9-10. During the report made at the shift change between 11 and 11:30, Nurse Fortner told her that Lonnita had not put out any urine since the 10:00 p.m. collection. RP (1/16/13) at 18, 23. Nurse Sumey made a contemporaneous notation of Nurse Fortner's report in the chart: "Reported by evening nurse that ureteral stents have had no output since emptied by CNA about 2200." RP (1/16/13) at 23-24.

At 11:45 p.m., Nurse Sumey reported that she could not find any urine from the stents and that Ms. Haskins' urine bags were empty. RP (1/16/13) at 26. When she assessed Lonnita Haskins at 11:45, she found that the stents were about 14 inches out of her body. RP (1/16/13) at 17-18. She made a note in the medical record as follows:

Exposed stent tubing on both right and left to length of 50 to 60 centimeters compared to about 7 to 10 centimeters the day before."⁵

RP (1/16/13) at 24. While the stents had moved substantially, the Malecot tube had not moved at all. RP (1/16/13) at 20.

⁵ Converted to inches, this was 19 to 23 inches of exposed stent tubing, compared to 2 ½ to 4 inches approximately the preceding day. Nurse Sumey testified that

Lonnita Haskins told Nurse Sumey at the 11:45 assessment that the aide had hung the bags over the edge of the bed when she emptied the bags at 10. RP (1/16/13) at 18. At trial, Ms. Barker denied that she had hung the bags over the bed. RP (1/17/13) at 59.

At 6:30 a.m. on March 12, Dr. Saffari visited Ms. Haskins in response to the medical crisis created by the dislodgment of the stents. It was Dr. Saffari's understanding that the stents were dislodged because the bags were hung over the bed, "place[d] to gravity" in the course of collecting urine. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 51. Ms. Haskins told Dr. Saffari that when the nurse's aide came into the room to empty the bag, she hung the bag over the bed, and that is when the stent was pulled out. Dr. Saffari recorded her comments in her medical record. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at 34-35.6

Ms. Haskins had no memory of the observations reported at the time. She remembered asking Dr. Saffari what happened, and he related her earlier statement to him. RP (1/28/13) at 128-130.

X-rays showed that the stents had been pulled completely out of the ureters, and that the end of the stents which originally were in the renal pelvis of the kidney were now in the pouch itself. Supp. RP (1/16/13) at

her metric skills were not that good, but this was a contemporaneous note. RP (1/16/13) at 24-25.

30. Later measurements of the x-rays showed that the stents had been dislodged 14 inches. RP (1/22/13) at 48.

Dr. Oliver Dorigo testified as an expert witness for Ms. Haskins. Dr. Dorigo is now the chief of gynecological cancer surgery at Stanford University. At the time of his testimony, he was a gynecological oncologist at UCLA. RP (1/22/13) at 6-7. He had never testified as an expert before this case. RP (1/22/13) at 5. Dr. Dorigo has performed numerous urinary procedures of the type performed by Dr. Saffari in this case, as well as other urinary procedures which are similar but slightly different. RP (1/22/13) at 7-8.

Dr. Dorigo opined that the stents in this case could not have become dislodged without negligence. RP (1/22/13) at 40-41. Plaintiff's expert nurse, Karen Huisinga also testified that the stents would not have been dislodged without hospital negligence. RP (1/22/13) at 96-98.

The urine bags were not attached to the patient as they should have been. The standard of care requires that the urinary stent bags be secured to the bed, gown and or body. It is a violation of the standard of care to hang the bags over a bed railing. RP (1/22/13) at 55.

⁶The record was admitted into evidence as a patient statement regarding medical condition ER 803(a)(3) as well as the statements made by Ms. Haskins to Nurse Fortner.

In this case, the bags were manipulated by the aide, and hung over the side of the bed. This enabled the stents to be pulled out by the force of sheer gravity of the bags. RP (1/22/13) at 40-41. It is a violation of the standard of care for a nurse or aide to drain a bag attached to a stent by hanging the bag over a bed. RP (1/22/13) at 40, 49. The standard of care requires that no pulling tension be exerted on the stents. RP (1/22/13) at 56.

Dr. Dorigo agreed that "theoretically" the stents could have become dislodged in the absence of negligence, but not in this case. RP (1/22/13) at 40-41. The stents were dislodged 14 inches. Although Dr. Dorigo and his group at UCLA regularly perform these procedures, he did not know of any instance in which a stent had been pulled out 10-14 inches. RP (1/22/13) at 8. The end of the stent which had terminated at the kidney in its original position had been pulled all the way into the Indiana pouch. This required a steady pulling which could be explained by the negligent act of hanging the urine bag which would pull steadily on the stents. RP (1/22/13) at 48, 49.

Dr. Dorigo ruled out the likelihood that Ms. Haskins had inadvertently dislodged the stents herself, as did Plaintiff's expert nurse,

Karen Huisinga. RP (1/22/13) at 41-42, 78-80. There is no evidence that Ms. Haskins inadvertently dislodged the stents herself. Again, the stents had been pulled out a great length. The stents had to be slowly and steadily pulled out, until they were retracted all the way into the pouch. Ms. Haskins was reported as coherent, calm, responsive and not under distress. RP (1/22/13) at 41. According to medical records, "[s]he was appropriate, had appropriate behavior before and immediately after this was discovered." RP (1/22/13) at 41, 79. She was not in a condition in which she might have become confused and pulled them out.

Further, if Ms. Haskins had attempted to pull out the stents in an undocumented moment of hallucination, she would likely have pulled out all three lines including the Malecot drain which was also inserted from the outside of her body into the Indiana pouch. The Malecot drain is not connected to a heavy urine bag; there is not a lot of drainage from the Malecot. If a patient had pulled on the Malecot, it would have come out. But it had not moved at all. RP (1/22/13) at 41-42, 78-80, 124-26.

2. **Procedural History**

Plaintiff filed her complaint on September 15, 2010. CP 3-7. The case went to trial before the Honorable John Hickman, Superior Court for Pierce County, on January 14, 2013. CP 430.

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