No. 44655-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

LONNITA HASKINS,

Appellant,

vs.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington corporation d/b/a  
TACOMA GENERAL HOSPITAL,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

---

**RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT MULTICARE HEALTH  
SYSTEM'S RESPONSE BRIEF AND OPENING BRIEF IN  
SUPPORT OF CROSS APPEAL**

---

Rebecca S. Ringer, WSBA No. 16842  
David J. Corey, WSBA No. 26683  
Amber L. Pearce, WSBA No. 31626  
Floyd, Pflueger & Ringer, P.S.  
200 West Thomas Street, Suite 500  
Seattle, WA 98119  
Telephone: 206-441-4455  
Facsimile: 206-441-8484

Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-  
Appellant MultiCare Health System

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

Sumey confirmed that “ureteral stents can slip out.” (RP (1/16/13) at 183:11)

**7. The Trial Court Admitted Evidence of Collateral Source Payments.**

Haskins receives Social Security disability compensation, and is covered by Medicaid-Medicare insurance. (Supp. RP (1/28/13) at 104:24 to 105:9) She moved *in limine* for a ruling that RCW 7.70.080 is limited to admitting evidence of collateral source payments *already made* (and conversely that the statute does not permit evidence of *future* collateral source benefits).

Haskins argued that “[w]e believe that the statute language is just patently clear. It says that the healthcare provider can introduce evidence of where the plaintiff has [] already been compensated.” (RP (1/15/13) at 4:13-16)

The trial court agreed and granted Haskins’ motion *in limine*, ruling that a plain reading of RCW 7.70.080 allows evidence of past collateral source payments. (RP (1/24/13) at 89:5-17)

**D. “Preponderance of Evidence” Is Not a Percentage**

During voir dire on January 14, 2013, Haskins’ counsel repeatedly referred to the burden of proof as “51 percent,” asking potential jurors if they were uncomfortable with “the way the law is now, it’s only 51

percent.” (RP (1/14/13) at 13:11-12). This prompted a colloquy among potential jurors and Haskins’ counsel as they speculated whether the burden of proof should be 70/30 percent or a higher percentage. (RP (1/14/13) at 12-14)

MultiCare’s counsel objected to this line of voir dire “because this isn’t the law. There is no percentage in the verdict.” (RP (1/14/13) at 14:21-22) The Court sustained the objection and ruled that “you’re not going to be instructed that 51 percent is the cut-off line or 73 percent is the cut-off line. You’ll be given an instruction on what the preponderance of the evidence means, but it’s not phrased in a percentage.” (RP (1/14/13) at 14:24 to 15:3)

In response, Haskins’ counsel remarked “*the Court’s correct*. What you will get is an instruction that says more likely than not.” (RP (1/14/13) at 15:9-10) Thereafter, Haskins’ counsel referenced the correct standard.

In closing statements, MultiCare’s counsel discussed Haskins’ burden of proof, asking “what does the burden of proof mean for you? And as we learned, even during the voir dire process two plus weeks ago, it’s not a percentage. This isn’t math. This is people using words and knowing that they mean to themselves. What does it take to persuade you?

(RP (1/29/13) at 42:6-11)

Haskins submitted a proposed Jury Instruction on January 14, 2013, that included Washington Pattern Instruction 21.01 (meaning of burden of proof—preponderance of the evidence). (CP 124) WPI 21.01 does not assign a percentage to establish “preponderance” of the evidence, nor does the 2013 Supplement change any wording or add any case law to the citations for WP1 21.01.

## **VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE ON CROSS APPEAL**

### **A. The Trial Court Excluded MultiCare’s ER 615(2) Designated Representative During Witness Testimony.**

MultiCare selected its nursing employee (and former Certified Nursing Assistant) Ashley Barker RN, as its representative to attend trial pursuant to ER 615. (CP 167) Ms. Barker was also disclosed as a fact witness. In one sentence, Haskins moved *in limine* “to exclude witnesses to be called in this case from the courtroom,” relying on ER 615 (and without specific reference to MultiCare’s courtroom designee).

On January 14, 2013, Haskins argued that Ms. Barker was “a critical witness,” but not a party to the lawsuit or an agent of MultiCare. (Second Supp. RP (1/14/13) at 3:15; 3:24-25) After accusing MultiCare of engaging in a “very clever ploy,” Haskins argued that Ms. Barker should not be allowed to sit at trial as the hospital’s representative. (Second Supp.

RP (1/14/13) at 4:3-5) “[T]hey aren’t allowed to just pick anybody at random. They’re entitled to pick someone who is a representative of the hospital as an officer or someone that is involved in management, and so forth.” (Second Supp. RP (1/14/13) at 5:9-13) Conversely, Haskins argued that MultiCare “can make anyone from the hospital hierarchy their representative.” (Second Supp. RP (1/14/13) at 5:23-24)

Ms. Barker is a nursing employee of MultiCare and is within “the hospital hierarchy.” MultiCare argued that it is a corporation’s right to have a representative at trial—and not the plaintiff’s right to select the representative for it. (Second Supp. RP (1/14/13) at 4:15-17) “The rule allows us to make the call as to the one person.” (Second Supp. RP (1/14/13) at 5:3-4)

The trial court granted Haskins’ motion *in limine*, ruling that MultiCare could not designate its employee and fact witness as its representative per ER 615. (RP (1/14/13) at 6:2-22) MultiCare moved the court for reconsideration, which the court denied. (CP 166-70)

**B. The Trial Court Refused to Give a Jury Instruction that Personal Injury Awards Are Non-Taxable.**

MultiCare proposed a jury instruction which states as follows: “Any award to plaintiff will not be subject to federal income tax, and therefore you should not add or subtract for such taxes in fixing the amount of any

award.” (CP 163) The trial court declined to submit the instruction to the jury “because it would conflict with the no insurance instruction.” (RP 1/29/13) at 184:15-17)

**VII. LEGAL ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO APPELLANT’S  
OPENING BRIEF**

**A. The *De Novo* Standard of Review Applies to a Trial Court’s  
Refusal to Give a *Res Ipsa Loquitur* Jury Instruction.**

Whether *res ipsa loquitur* applies under a given set of facts is a question of law, reviewed *de novo*. Pacheco v. Ames, 149 Wn.2d 431, 436, 69 P.3d 324 (2003).

**B. The Elements of *Res Ipsa Loquitur* Were Not Supported by  
Substantial Evidence.**

Haskins alleged *res ipsa loquitur* in her amended complaint. (CP 21) However, the trial court refused to submit a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction to the jury because “I think there’s plenty of evidence to indicate that this [dislodged stent] could have occurred without negligence[.]” (RP (1/29/13) at 187:13-15) “I think there’s plenty of evidence for them to rule that there was no negligence in this particular case and that the hospital wasn’t actively involved in having this slippage occur.” (RP (1/29/13) at 187:21-24)

Where applied, *res ipsa loquitur* profoundly changes the elements of proof required of a plaintiff and the defenses available to a defendant:

The doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* spares the plaintiff the requirement of having to prove specific acts of negligence in cases where a plaintiff asserts that he or she suffered injury, the cause of which cannot be fully explained, and the injury is of a type that would not ordinarily result if the defendant were not negligent. In such cases the jury is permitted to infer negligence. The doctrine permits the inference of negligence on the basis that the evidence of the cause of the injury is practically accessible to the defendant but inaccessible to the injured person.

Pacheco, 149 Wn.2d at 436 (citations omitted). “The practical effect of the doctrine is to rely on circumstantial evidence to permit a presumption or inference of negligence and place upon the defendant the burden of coming forward with evidence rebutting or overcoming the presumption.” A.C. v. Bellingham Sch. Dist., 125 Wn. App. 511, 516-17, 105 P.3d 400 (2004). “*Res ipsa loquitur* is to be used sparingly and only in exceptional cases.” Tinder v. Nordstrom, Inc., 84 Wn. App. 787, 789, 929 P.2d 1209 (1997). *Res ipsa loquitur* applies only when the evidence shows:

(1) the accident or occurrence producing the injury is of a kind which ordinarily does not happen in the absence of someone’s negligence, (2) the injuries are caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant, and (3) the injury-causing accident or occurrence is not due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of the plaintiff.

Pacheco, 149 Wn.2d at 436.

First, the doctrine cannot apply unless “the incident producing the injury must be of a kind that ordinarily does not occur in the absence of

negligence.” A.C., 125 Wn. App. at 517; *see also, e.g., Miller v. Jacoby*, 145 Wn.2d 65, 74, 33 P.3d 68 (2001). The burden rests with the plaintiff: “The party requesting the instruction must first show that the injury is of a type that does not occur absent negligence.” A.C., 125 Wn. App. at 520.

Here, Haskins adduced no evidence to establish the applicability of *res ipsa loquitur*. Ureteral stent dislodgment is a common and well-known risk of Indiana pouch surgery (or any stent therapy). It can and does occur in the absence of negligence; Haskins offered no competent expert testimony to the contrary.

Haskins’ own expert, Dr. Dorigo, testified that yes, it was theoretically possible that “sometimes stents can get dislodged even in the absence of somebody doing something wrong.” Ms. Huisinga testified that her own research revealed an article about the body passing ureteral stents spontaneously.

Dr. Saffari, her treating surgeon, agreed that “ureteral stents can become dislodged by a mechanism other than [negligent] nursing care.” In fact, Dr. Saffari has had instances in his own practice where ureteral stents became dislodged, and *unrelated to nursing care*. Nor could he rule out the possibility that Haskins may have inadvertently dislodged her own stents.

Dr. Jacoby testified that tubes fall out all the time in the absence of negligence. Ureteral stents can dislodge of their own volition by parastalting out; by patients rolling over and causing them to dislodge; by patients pulling them out while sleeping or confused; or when a stent is not sutured tight enough in surgery.

Swedish nurse Cheyenne Haines RN testified that she sees tubes and drains become dislodged “all the time.” And it’s not due to nursing negligence. MultiCare nurse Rebecca Sumey RN testified that she has observed patients’ lines and drains becoming misplaced or dislodged altogether “not infrequently.”

In short, the first element of *res ipsa loquitur* was not met and the trial court was correct in ruling that the doctrine did not apply here. The Washington Court of Appeals has routinely upheld a trial court’s decision not to apply the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* where the plaintiff fails to establish the first required element. See Andrews v. Burke, 55 Wn. App. 622, 631, 779 P.2d 740 (1989); Swanson v. Brigham, 18 Wn. App. 647, 571 P.2d 217 (1977).

On January 29, 2013, both parties presented oral argument about whether Haskins’ *res ipsa loquitur* instruction should be given to the jury. (RP (1/29/13) at 142-148) MultiCare noted that every one of Haskins’



own experts admitted that the complication of slipped stents can and does occur in the absence of negligence. (RP (1/29/13) at 143:16-17) Accordingly, Haskins did not meet her burden with *substantial evidence* to demonstrate the first prong of the *res ipsa* test. MultiCare also argued that the third prong was not satisfied because there was an issue of fact about whether Haskins' own acts caused or contributed to the dislodgment. (RP (1/29/13) 143:22 to 144:3) Conversely, Haskins argued extensively that the doctrine applied. (RP (1/29/13) 144:5 to 148:10)

After taking extra time to review the cases cited by Haskins, the trial court ruled that it was declining to give a *res ipsa loquitur* instruction. "I think there's plenty of evidence to indicate that this could have occurred without negligence[.]" (RP (1/29/13) at 187:13-15) "I think there's plenty of evidence for them to rule that there was no negligence in this particular case and that the hospital wasn't actively involved in having this slippage occur." (RP (1/29/13) at 187:21-24) This was a correct legal ruling that the Court of Appeals should affirm.

**C. Evidence of Collateral Source Payments Was Properly Admissible.**

Interpretation of statutes and evidentiary rules is a question of law the appellate court reviews *de novo*. Lawson v. City of Pasco, 168 Wn.2d 675, 678, 230 P.3d 1038 (2010). Here, it is baffling why Haskins is

appealing the trial court's ruling *granting her own motion in limine*.

She moved *in limine* for a ruling that RCW 7.70.080 is limited to collateral source payments *already made*. Haskins argued that “[w]e believe that the statute language is just patently clear. It says that the healthcare provider can introduce evidence of where the plaintiff has [] already been compensated.” (RP (1/15/13) at 4:13-16)

In her opening brief, Haskins also contends that she “objected” to the permitting “the hospital to submit evidence of collateral source payments pursuant to RCW 7.70.080.” (*See App. Opening Br. at 30-32*) However, *she never objected*. Rather, she solicited the trial court for a ruling that RCW 7.70.080 is limited to collateral source payments already made (rather than future payments).

Indeed, the trial court agreed and granted Haskins' motion *in limine*, ruling that a plain reading of RCW 7.70.080 allows evidence of past collateral source payments. (RP (1/24/13) at 89:5-17)

To the extent that the Court of Appeals addresses Haskins' invited error of granting her own motion, MultiCare responds that the failure to admit collateral source evidence in a medical malpractice case is error. “[W]e strongly encourage trial courts to fully follow the statute in the

future.” Adcox v. Children’s Orthopedic Hosp., 123 Wn.2d 15, 50, 864 P.2d 921 (1993).

Legislative intent may be inferred from legislative history of the enactment itself. Ropo, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 67 Wn.2d 574, 409 P.2d 148 (1965). In creating RCW 7.70.080, the legislature recognized that public funds would be within the scope of admissible collateral source evidence in medical malpractice actions:

[I]f a patient was receiving either welfare or unemployment payments while recuperating from a malpractice injury, the defendant could argue to the Jury that these public payments partially compensated the plaintiff.

ESHB 1470, Bill Summary.

The purpose of damages is compensatory. Nelson v. Western Steam Navigation Co., 52 Wn. 177, 184, 100 P. 325 (1909). The Nelson court held it was error to instruct the jury it could award medical expenses when those expenses were rendered free of charge to the plaintiff, noting that the fundamental conception of damages was compensation, and that a plaintiff should not recover for a service of value where no charge had been made. Id.

The intent of RCW 7.70.080 is to allow the admission of evidence of all payments except those directly from family assets. Evidence of

those collateral sources was clearly admissible. The trial court did not err in granting Haskins' own motion *in limine*.

Haskins cites Diaz v. State of Washington to advance the contention that RCW 7.70.080 is unconstitutional because it purportedly violates the separation of powers doctrine. (*See* App. Opening Br. at 30-31) The Diaz court addressed the admissibility of prior settlements, not the admissibility of benefits. In Diaz, the Court specifically stated that the “trial court misapplied RCW 7.70.080 by failing to give effect to the proviso at the end of the statute: Notwithstanding this section, evidence of compensation by a defendant health care provider may be offered only by the provider.” Diaz v. State of Washington, 175 Wn.2d 457, 463, 285 P.3d 873 (2012). The Court explained that RCW 7.70.080 “supersedes the common law collateral source rule.” Id. at 465.

The Diaz Court analyzed the intersection of RCW 7.70.080, 4.22.060, and 4.22.070, however, each statute refers to *prior settlements*, not benefits. The Court's decision in Diaz does not question the constitutionality of RCW 7.70.080. The state legislature created a statutory cause of action in derogation of common law when it enacted RCW 7.70 and its subsections; this is a constitutional exercise of legislative powers. Finally, any purported error is *harmless* because the jury never reached the question of Haskins' damages. *See Ford v. Chaplin*, 61 Wn. App. 896, 812

P.2d 532 (1991) (holding that any error relating to damages is harmless when the verdict establishes that the defendant is not liable).

**D. The Burden of Persuasion is “Preponderance of the Evidence” Not 51 Percent.**

Before *voir dire* and opening statements, Haskins proposed a correct statement of the law in her proposed jury instruction, submitted on January 14, 2013, and patterned after WPI 21.01:

When it is said that a party has the burden of any proposition, or that any proposition must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence, or the expression “if you find” is used, it means that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that the proposition on which that party has the burden of proof is more probably than not true.

(CP 124)

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